

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Great Lakes Research



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jglr

Review

Researcher disciplines and the assessment techniques used to evaluate Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems



Rachel A. Hackett *, Heidi B. Babos, Erin E. Collins, Dean Horton, Neil Schock, Lee S. Schoen

Earth and Ecosystem Science Program, Institute for Great Lakes Research, Central Michigan University, Mount Pleasant, MI 48859, USA

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 22 February 2016 Accepted 21 November 2016 Available online 6 December 2016

Associate Editor: Anett Trebitz

Keywords: Laurentian Great Lakes Coastal ecosystem Habitat assessment Multidisciplinary

ABSTRACT

The Laurentian Great Lakes of North America have been a focus of environmental and ecosystem research since the Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement in 1972. This study provides a review of scientific literature directed at the assessment of Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems. Our aim was to understand the methods employed to quantify disturbance and ecosystem quality within Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems within the last 20 years. We focused specifically on evidence of multidisciplinary articles, in authorship or types of assessment parameters used. We sought to uncover: 1) where Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems are investigated, 2) how patterns in the disciplines of researchers have shifted over time, 3) how measured parameters differed among disciplines, and 4) which parameters were used most often. Results indicate research was conducted almost evenly across the five Laurentian Great Lakes and that publication of coastal ecosystems studies increased dramatically ten years after the first State of the Great Lakes Ecosystem Conference in 1994. Research authored by environmental scientists and by multiple disciplines (multidisciplinary) have become more prevalent since 2003. This study supports the likelihood that communication and knowledge-sharing is happening between disciplines on some level. Multidisciplinary or environmental science articles were the most inclusive of parameters from different disciplines, but every discipline seemed to include chemical parameters less often than biota, physical, and spatial parameters. There is a need for an increased understanding of minor nutrient, toxin, and heavy metal impacts and use of spatial metrics in Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems.

© 2016 International Association for Great Lakes Research. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

Introduction	10
Methods	10
Study area	10
Search criteria	11
Results	12
Laurentian Great Lakes coastal research locations	12
Discipline trends over time	12
Parameters used to assess Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems	12
Parameters by discipline	12
Biotic parameters	12
Chemical or physical parameters	12
Spatial metric parameters.	12
Discussion	12
Conclusion	15
Acknowledgements	15
References	15

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: hacke1ra@cmich.edu (R.A. Hackett).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2016.11.008

0380-1330/© 2016 International Association for Great Lakes Research. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Introduction

Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems are hotspots for biological diversity and productivity. These coastal ecosystems contain diverse landforms and ecosystem types including marshes, freshwater estuaries, forested dune and swale complexes, beaches, embayments, and lake plain prairies (Albert et al., 2005). These systems are vital to many macroinvertebrate taxa (Cooper et al., 2012; Uzarski et al., 2009) and sport and prey fish communities (Jude and Pappas, 1992; Stephenson, 1990; Whillans, 1992). Additionally, coastal ecosystems, such as wetlands, provide many functions and values that benefit regional ecosystem health including carbon (Brix et al., 2001) and nutrient cycling (Mitsch and Reeder, 1991). Coastal wetlands also act as biological filters that mitigate chemical runoff, while trapping sediments (Johnston, 1991) and toxicants (Grisey et al., 2012), and preventing shoreline erosion (Fosberg, 1971).

Anthropogenic land use is affecting many coastal habitats throughout the Laurentian Great Lakes (Chow-Fraser, 2006; Danz et al., 2007). Since European settlement, a significant portion of the naturally occurring Great Lakes coastal ecosystem area has been lost (>50%), and coastlines have lost over 95% of their wetland habitat in some areas (Cwikiel, 1998; Krieger, 1992). Remaining wetlands have been further subjected to increased levels of fragmentation, degradation, and invasion of exotic plant species, greatly reducing the biodiversity and overall habitat quality of these valuable ecosystems (Cooper et al., 2012; Tulbure et al., 2007; Uzarski et al., 2009). In addition to wetlands, open water and nearshore embayment habitats (Peterson et al., 2007), rivers (Hoffman et al., 2012), and river mouths (Larson et al., 2013) of the Great Lakes have been impacted by surrounding land-use.

Scientists and managers recognize the important role that coastal ecosystems play in maintaining Laurentian Great Lakes water quality, biodiversity and productivity (Beletsky et al., 2007; Cloern, 2007; EPA, 1995; Robillard and Marsden, 2001; Schoen et al., 2016; Sierszen et al., 2012), prompting recent efforts to assess the quality of remaining habitats in the Laurentian Great Lakes basin. Recent work focused on assessing and monitoring the condition of Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems, including the development of new methods and techniques to assess coastal health. For example, Niemi et al. (2007) and Uzarski et al. (2004, 2005) have developed chemical, geographical, and biological approaches to quantify the degree of anthropogenic influence on coastal wetland habitats. These and other methods of assessment are critical for successful protection and restoration of coastal waters by allowing managers to identify, prioritize, and monitor areas in need of restoration.

Managers must be able to develop plans for restoration, protection, and monitoring on an ecosystem scale in order to be effective given their limited resources (Dalerum, 2014; Evely et al., 2010; Karlqvist, 1999; Simenstad et al., 2006). Single discipline research can be difficult to implement directly into a management plan that is developed for an entire ecosystem, because it may be limited in its perspective (Brewer, 1999; Dalerum, 2014; Evely et al., 2010; Karlqvist, 1999; Kinzig, 2001). There has been a push for more multidisciplinary research in the last 25 years to promote a more integrated approach to addressing ecosystem issues (Brewer, 1999; Klein, 1990). Conducting multidisciplinary research is an excellent goal, but successful execution is difficult, and many projects are dropped before completion (Brewer, 1999; Pooley et al., 2013). Major obstacles faced when tackling multidisciplinary research are disciplinary prejudices, insufficient or lack of interdisciplinary communication, poor data accessibility and integration, lack of shared values and priorities, and different theories of knowledge (Pooley et al., 2013).

Since 1972, the United States of America (U.S.A.) and Canadian governments have attempted to combat these obstacles for the sake of human and ecosystem health. Both countries signed and subsequently updated (in 1987) the Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement (GLWQA) to align scientists with a common goal to restore and protect the Laurentian Great Lakes (IJC, 1993). To uphold this agreement, it was decided that an understanding of atmosphere, land, biota, and human activities in the Laurentian Great Lakes and their interactions should be integral to coastal ecosystem protection and restoration (IJC, 1993). Since 1981, the reports from the International Joint Commission (IJC) praised multidisciplinary efforts in which scientists worked "across jurisdictions and disciplines to enhance learning, understanding, and the efficient use of resources" (IJC, 1993). Although the obstacle of a shared value (i.e., restore and protect Laurentian Great Lakes) had been overcome, other obstacles remained in the way of multidisciplinary research.

To combat the remaining obstacles, the first State of the Great Lakes Ecosystem Conference (SOLEC) was held in 1994 (EPA, 1995). SOLEC brought together government agencies, conservation groups, health professionals, agricultural community, industry, academia, and citizens from both Canada and U.S.A. to facilitate interdisciplinary communication to uphold objectives of the GLWQA. In subsequent years, SOLEC has also encouraged efforts to make Laurentian Great Lakes ecosystem data more readily available and abundant, addressing another multidisciplinary research obstacle. The SOLEC process and the GLWQA both promote more collaborative research, with SOLEC specifically encouraging multidisciplinary approaches to overcome disciplinary prejudices and communication, improve data accessibility, and add value to the research outcome (Environmental Law Institute, 1995; IJC, 1993; Pooley et al., 2013).

In this study, a literature search and review was performed based on published primary scientific literature directed at the assessment of Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems. Claudet and Freschetti (2010) provided a similar analysis for the Mediterranean that illustrated gaps in knowledge and pointed out disproportionate regional emphasis, which was useful for future research and management. The primary objective was to survey studies that quantify disturbance and ecosystems quality within Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems since the first 1994 SOLEC to identify trends and gaps. Additionally, this study sought to uncover evidence of multidisciplinary collaboration through the research parameters measured and/or the knowledge of its pool of contributors for articles studying Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems (Haapasaari et al., 2012; Karlqvist, 1999; Klein, 1990). This study aims to provide a synopsis of research efforts on Laurentian Great Lakes coastal systems measuring ecosystem guality concerning: 1) where Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystem research is being conducted, 2) how discipline patterns of Laurentian Great Lakes researchers may have shifted over time, 3) how indicative parameters differed among scientific disciplines, and 4) which parameters were used most often.

Methods

Study area

The coastal systems of the Laurentian Great Lakes stretch approximately 17,500 km across USA and Canada (Botts and Krushelnicki, 1987). Great Lakes coastal zones include littoral habitats such as wetlands, beaches and river mouths. Coastal zones of the Great Lakes can be differentiated from offshore habitat by their warmer temperatures, shallow depths and decreased wave energy (Trebitz et al., 2009). These conditions promote sediment deposition and nutrient retention and promote the establishment of aquatic macrophytes (Parker et al., 2012). These macrophytes provide biota with structure and cover, promoting macroinvertebrate and fish richness (Randall et al., 1996). There are 275,748 acres of coastal wetlands as of 2003 in the Great Lakes Coastal Wetland Consortium inventory. In addition to coastal wetland habitat, the Great Lakes contain approximately 1500 miles of shoreline, encompassing river mouths, spawning reefs and beach and embayment habitats (Grady, 2007).

Search criteria

Articles included in this analysis were found in the Web of Science Core Collection database, which does not include government agency documents. Although much ecosystem assessment and monitoring data is housed in agency databases and reports, those data and findings that make it into the peer-reviewed literature are typically what is used to develop monitoring protocols and to determine which parameters to collect (Danz et al., 2007; Niemi et al., 2007; Uzarski et al., 2004, 2005). Accordingly, assessment of the peer-reviewed literature, can reveal trends in the advancement of hypothesis-driven scientific knowledge and understanding. Government agency documents were also excluded as they are not held to the same standards as peer-reviewed scientific journal articles. Government agency documents are not always as openly available online, through conventional search engines such as Web of Science. Lastly, government agency documents are often associated with the application of established research methods, whereas peerreviewed journal articles available through Web of Science are more representative of current trends in environmental research.

The search criteria used in this analysis are visualized in Fig. 1. The search was restricted by study region using the following topic search terms (("Great Lake*") OR ("Lake\$ Superior" OR "Lake\$ Michigan" OR "Lake\$ Huron" OR "Lake\$ Ontario" Or "Lake\$ Erie"). The "*" and "\$" represent multiple and single wildcard characters, respectively. The results were restricted to ecosystem-relevant studies by the intersection of the search terms ((coastal OR littoral) NOT inland) and ("environment* health" OR "ecosystem health" OR anthropogen* OR "human impact*" OR disturbance* OR assess* OR integrity OR quality). The search was also restricted by the publication years 1994 to February 2015, corresponding to studies completed after the release of an influential report on the Laurentian Great Lakes by the International Joint Commission (IJC, 1993) and the first SOLEC held in 1994. The search yielded 496 search results (Fig. 1). From this list, articles were excluded that were not conducted in the Laurentian Great Lakes region (e.g., African Great



Fig. 1. Venn diagram of search criteria. Each circle represents search criteria used with peer-reviewed publications in the Web of Science Core Collection database and lists the topic search terms used. The intersection in the center displays subset of articles pertaining to the assessment of Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystem quality. The * indicates that although 496 articles were returned with the search, only 234 articles were relevant upon further examination.

Lakes, Atlantic coast) or were not of a coastal ecosystem (e.g., offshore, inland), as well as review articles and environmental policy papers. Only 234 articles fit the criteria and were used in the final analyses (Electronic Supplementary Material (ESM) Table S1). Articles published in the year 2015 were excluded from analyses that incorporated timeseries data, as our article collection efforts ended part way through the 2015 year.

For each article, the country of origin (i.e., Canada, U.S.A., Both, Other), discipline(s) of the author(s), Laurentian Great Lakes(s) studied, and parameters examined were determined (Table 1; ESM Table S1). The country of origin and discipline(s) were determined based on the address of the author(s) as reported in the article and by the institution and department affiliation of the author. An article that had at least one author from neither Canada nor U.S.A. was categorized as "Other." The discipline categories used were biology, environmental science, geography, geology, multidisciplinary, and other (e.g., chemistry, mathematics, engineering). Multidisciplinary research was defined as collaboration between two or more researchers from different fields: i.e. at least one coauthor coming from a different discipline from the first author. The articles were not rated on the degree of integration of disciplines within the study, hence the use of the term "multidisciplinary" instead of "interdisciplinary." Environmental science is considered an inherently multidisciplinary or interdisciplinary field as it integrates different disciplinary perspectives into answering research questions (Hicks et al., 2010; Morillo et al., 2003). Authors that affiliated themselves with the environmental science discipline may have been more specialized in past research, but now consider themselves multidisciplinary. Given that "multidisciplinary" was defined as a collaboration between separate individuals and the number of authors identifying as environmental scientists, "environmental science" was considered as a separate discipline from "multidisciplinary" and the other specialized categories.

Parameters used to assess ecosystem quality were extracted and categorized into biota (e.g., taxonomic groups), chemical properties (e.g., nutrients and toxins), physical properties (e.g., temperature, pH, etc.), or spatial metrics (Table 1). In particular, spatial metrics were defined as parameters to estimate local anthropogenic impact on, or spatial characteristics of, study locations such as land use-land cover (LULC), road density, and population density (Table 1). Collectively, the parameters were used to evaluate relative level of integration of disciplines within the articles, to determine holes and knowledge gaps in coastal

Table 1

List of parameters. For each parameter category, the percentage of the studies that examined that parameter are listed, and examples of each parameter.

Parameter category	Percentage of total studies	Examples
Biota	80%	Bacteria
		Plants
		Plankton
		Invertebrates
		Fish
		Amphibians
		Reptiles
		Birds
		Mammals
Chemical properties	43%	Nutrients (e.g., carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus)
		Other ions (e.g., calcium, chlorine, magnesium)
		Toxins/heavy metals (e.g., dioxins, mercury,
		PCBs)
Physical properties	60%	Conductivity
		Temperature
		Turbidity
		Velocity
		Other
Spatial metrics	59%	Area (e.g., site area, watershed area)
		Land use/land cover (LULC)
		Road density
		Other (e.g., fetch, elevation)

ecosystem research, to assess the trends over the last 15 years, and to influence the focus of future research.

Results

Laurentian Great Lakes coastal research locations

Overall, U.S.A. researchers produced over twice as many published articles as Canadian researchers (62% and 25% respectively), with 12% of papers produced with the cooperation from both countries. Only four articles (2%) had at least one author hailing from neither the U.S.A. nor Canada (i.e., Foyle and Norton, 2007, - Germany and U.S.A.; Gal et al., 2006, - Canada, Israel, and U.S.A.; Gao et al., 2009, - China and U.S.A.; Travis et al., 2010, - Czech Republic and U.S.A.).

For articles containing a single discipline, the U.S.A. had a greater percentage of environmental science articles (35%), while Canada had a greater percentage of biology articles (62%). The distribution of articles across focal biota categories was proportionally similar between the U.S.A. and Canada. Trends over time show that only one article (Kreutzwiser and Gabriel, 2000) was produced in conjunction with both countries prior to 2005, whereas there was an average of 3 such studies per year thereafter.

Each of the Laurentian Great Lakes had similar representation among articles examining their coastal habitats (17–22%; Fig. 2). Lake Michigan represented the largest percentage of articles, while Lake Superior represented the smallest percentage (17%; Fig. 2). There were fewer articles studying Lake Superior exclusively than any of the other Great Lakes (8%; Fig. 2).

Discipline trends over time

Articles from 1994 to 2014 were examined for trends over time. The number of articles across disciplines within the Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems was <5 per year initially, peaked in 2007 at 30 articles, and decreased to 18 articles in 2014 (Fig. 3). The number of environmental science and multidisciplinary papers



Fig. 2. Pareto chart displaying the distribution of studies in the Laurentian Great Lakes focused on the assessment of coastal ecosystems. Each bar represents one of the five Laurentian Great Lakes of the U.S.A. The left y-axis is the frequency of study and corresponds with the bars; the right y-axis is the cumulative percentage and corresponds with the black line.

increased substantially after 2003, and the overall increase in Great Lakes coastal study articles is largely due to an increase in the number of environmental science and multidisciplinary studies. The number of biology articles per year appeared to be a relatively constant proportion of the total publications over time. The rise in the environmental science discipline may reflect a trend in language and naming of affiliations, not a change of approach to the research. Those concerns are addressed by further examining the types of parameters used in each study by discipline, described below.

Parameters used to assess Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems

Parameters by discipline

Researchers from the disciplines of biology, environmental science, and multidisciplinary teams published the majority of the articles analyzed (Fig. 4). There were few articles written by chemistry and physics researchers, thus they were included in the "other" category. While studies categorized as biological, not surprisingly, tended to emphasize biota measurements, environmental-science and multidisciplinary studies addressed biotic, chemical, physical, and spatial metrics. The parameters studied by environmental science and multidisciplinary studies were more similar in proportion to each other than to other disciplines. Within environmental science and multidisciplinary studies, biota is studied the most and chemical parameters were included the least.

Biotic parameters

Approximately 80% of the studies used a biotic parameter (e.g., plants, fish, invertebrates, bacteria, or combination thereof) to assess the ecosystem (Table 1; Fig. 5a). Studies that focused on one single biological group or population most often used plants (15%), fish (11%), bacteria (10%), plankton (7%), or invertebrates (5%) to assess the ecosystem. Studies focused on birds and herpetological communities were scarce in comparison (<3%). The largest proportion (27%) of studies assessed multiple biological groups. Of those multiple biota studies, plants (24%), fish (23%), invertebrates (19%), and plankton (18%) communities were the most highly represented (Fig. 5b). Bacterial communities were less frequently included in multi-biological group studies compared to their prevalence in single-biological group studies (Fig. 5a, b).

Chemical or physical parameters

Thirty-two percent of the studies did not measure any chemical or physical parameters (Table 1; Fig. 5c). Studies that focused on a single such parameter were represented most often by physical parameters (25%) or nutrients (6%; Fig. 5c). The majority of studies measured multiple chemical or physical parameters (Fig. 5c, d). Few studies examined toxins (2%). Other ions (e.g., calcium, magnesium, chlorine) were never examined as the only chemical or physical parameter (Table 1; Fig. 5c, d).

Spatial metric parameters

Of the manuscripts reviewed in this analysis, nearly half (41%) did not consider spatial metrics in their experimental design (Fig. 5e). Of those studies that did investigate spatial relationships, 23% quantified land use-land cover (LULC) in the localized study region (Fig. 5e). The "other" categories of spatial metrics used (e.g., population mapping, color-near-infrared imagery, elevation, agricultural intensity), occurred too infrequently to elucidate further trends.

Discussion

This analysis will provide researchers and managers with an overview of how coastal ecosystems have been assessed since 1994 in the Laurentian Great Lakes. Our results identify knowledge gaps and differences among disciplines, years, countries, lakes, and types of



Fig. 3. Distribution of articles based on the year they were published and the discipline of the author(s). Number of articles represents units for frequency on y-axis. Each shade indicates a different discipline explained in the legend. Papers from 2015 were excluded from this figure as analyses took place during year 2015, and therefore the year 2015 was an incomplete data set.

measurements made. Successful and meaningful multidisciplinary research is difficult to achieve with cultural, political, and practical challenges to overcome (Claudet and Freschetti, 2010; Hicks et al., 2010; Marzano et al., 2006; Pettorelli et al., 2014a, 2014b; Pooley et al., 2013). Pooley et al. (2013) categorize multidisciplinary research challenges into five areas: 1) methodological (e.g., time, data integration, data accessibility), 2) value judgments, 3) theories of knowledge (e.g., qualitative, quantitative), 4) disciplinary prejudices, and 5) interdisciplinary communication. For example, remote sensing is a geographical tool that can provide many benefits to multidisciplinary research, but challenges in methodology (funding, data accessibility, technology), communication, and knowledge have impeded collaboration (Pettorelli et al., 2014a, 2014b; Roughgarden et al., 1991).



Fig. 4. The number of articles published categorized by the parameters studied (represented by the shades of each bar) and discipline of the author(s) (represented by groupings along the x-axis).

Although articles written by researchers in a single discipline (e.g. biology, geology) favored using parameters common within their discipline, occasionally research parameters were utilized beyond their given field. This implies communication and knowledge-sharing between disciplines on some level. The use of multidisciplinary techniques does not always amount to authorship collaboration across disciplines, but it does foster relationships from which future multidisciplinary efforts can be developed (Marzano et al., 2006) and is an important part in applying a holistic approach to ecosystem assessment.

The trend of increasing number of multidisciplinary manuscripts after 2005 implies that many researchers are now considering and applying multidisciplinary relationships, concepts, and tools to their projects. There is also an increasing trend of manuscripts in environmental science, an inherently multidisciplinary field (Hicks et al., 2010; Morillo et al., 2003). The establishment of these relationships, concepts, and tools early in the research is essential for a successful multidisciplinary project (Marzano et al., 2006; Pooley et al., 2013). The recent decrease in multidisciplinary and environmental science articles (2013–2014) does not span enough time to identify as a new trend.

The overall trend in published data can be attributed in part to changes in government interests and grant funding, as noted by Claudet and Freschetti (2010) and Kamalski (2010). EPA Funding initiatives (e.g., Great Lakes Ecological Indicators Project and the Great Lakes Coastal Wetland Consortium) resulted in an increase in published articles on coastal ecosystem ecological indicators. Both of these programs measure ecological indicators based on SOLEC recommendations (see www.glei.nrri.umn.edu, as well as www.glc.org). The IJC through the GLWQA fostered efforts to detail the progress of remediation within the Laurentian Great Lakes, and to eliminate toxins and organochloride discharges into the basins (Environmental Law Institute, 1995). Besides Biennial reports, the IJC produces "special reports" making recommendations concerning policy and, in turn, encouraging research in specific directions. For example, in 2011, the IJC requested more research and monitoring of "chemicals of emerging concern" (International Joint Commission Chemicals of Emerging Concern Work Group, 2011).

The somewhat lower number of articles using chemical parameters than physical or spatial parameters across all disciplines may indicate that chemists are not as involved in Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystem assessment studies as other disciplines. The inclusion of more researchers with chemistry or environmental science affiliation early in the planning process for Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystems may answer the call by the IJC. Among studies that measured chemical



Fig. 5. Pareto charts and bar graphs showing the parameters used in Laurentian Great Lakes coastal ecosystem research from 1994 - February 2015. Figure a) is a Pareto chart showing the distribution of biological groups (biota) that were sampled; b) is a bar graph showing the breakdown of biota within studies that surveyed multiple biological groups; c) is a Pareto chart showing the distribution of chemical-physical data that were sampled; d) is a bar graph showing the breakdown of chemical-physical data that surveyed multiple categories of chemical-physical data that surveyed multiple categories of chemical-physical data that surveyed multiple categories that a breakdown did not visualize well and is not included. The left y-axis of the Pareto charts (a, c, e) is the frequency of study and corresponds with the bars; the right y-axis is the cumulative percentage and corresponds with the black line.

or physical parameters, physical properties (e.g., temperature, turbidity) and major nutrients (e.g., N, P) were often measured in conjunction. A preference toward measuring these physical properties and nutrients over others is at least partially driven by the concern for anthropogenic land use effects on coastal ecosystems due to added nutrients and eutrophication. Other "minor" chemical elements (e.g., Ca, Na, K, Fe), however, were never the primary focus of any study unless other major nutrients or other physical measurements were also analyzed (Fig. 5d). Nearly a third of the studies characterizing coastal systems did not include any physical or chemical dimension, which suggests that these studies either used spatial metrics as a surrogate for direct anthropogenic influence on coastal ecosystems, or did not address such anthropogenic effect.

Toxins within coastal systems were also underrepresented in the literature reviewed for this analysis. This is surprising, as toxins and heavy metals have been found to be prevalent within coastal systems in the Great Lakes watershed. For example, heavy metals have been found in coastal wetland and estuarine sediments which consequently impacted local biotic communities (Cooper et al., 2009; Ni et al., 2015), and several Great Lakes Areas of Concern (AOCs) have been delineated as consequences of pollutant contamination (EPA; www.epa.gov/great-lakesaocs). Wetlands have the ability to mitigate heavy metal toxins entering surface water, yet these toxins are often not included when evaluating a coastal wetland (Sheoran and Sheoran, 2006). Ecosystem assessment studies with a focus on measuring pollutants and toxins as chemical parameters are currently lacking. These studies are needed to meet the requests of the IJC to better understand the influence of pollutants and toxins on coastal environments (International Joint Commission Chemicals of Emerging Concern Work Group, 2011).

The economy also influences research. For example, fishing is critical to the Laurentian Great Lakes regional and recreational economy, contributing between \$4-7 billion annually (http://www.miseagrant. umich.edu/explore/fisheries/May 2, 2016). This economic influence could be driving research on fish populations and communities, skewing research focus toward that particular taxonomic group. In these cases, the ecosystem assessment is focused on habitat quality for the fish of interest. Analysis and understanding of aquatic food webs also has attained considerable importance, especially to understand the effects of aquatic invasive species (IJC, 2012). Invertebrates and plankton represent the trophic tiers below fish in a freshwater system, which along with their role as environmental indicators (Lougheed and Chow-Fraser, 2002; Stoermer, 1978; Uzarski et al., 2004) may explain the considerable amount of research focusing on these groups. Research emphasizing particular biota may also be linked to key events, like the influx of invasive species (e.g., Asian carp) and occurrence of harmful algal blooms in Western Lake Erie. However, more research is needed to definitively affiliate these events to publications. Birds, amphibians, reptiles, and mammals were rarely examined. There is room for further study for these organisms as indicators of ecosystem integrity.

Public health interests also drive Laurentian Great Lakes research. The importance of the Laurentian Great Lakes for recreation and drinking water may explain the popularity of the bacteria parameter, but interestingly, bacteria do not appear to be studied often in conjunction with other biological communities (Fig. 5b). Several of the studies reviewed focused on fecal-associated bacteria within public beach environments in an attempt to elucidate the severity of public health concerns (e.g., Bertke, 2007; Kinzelman et al., 2008; Whitman et al., 2008), which could explain why other taxonomic groups (e.g., fish, amphibians, etc.) were not often analyzed in studies which analyzed bacteria. Outside of public health concerns, characterizing bacterial communities in synchronization with alternative taxonomic groups could elucidate broader biological community patterns (e.g., food web processes, species interactions). Furthermore, little research has explored microbial community structure and function in Great Lakes coastal ecosystems, particularly in wetlands where microbes are fundamental drivers of biogeochemical cycles.

Spatial metrics were the least used parameter type examined, with only 68% of articles including a spatial metric in their design (Fig. 5e). Spatial metrics are a fairly broad category that can be related to landscape ecology, biotic integrity, anthropogenic disturbance, or social pressures and processes (Turner, 2005). Government agencies and other property managers have called for more social and economic factors to be included in ecosystem assessments, but conceptual challenges, especially the quantification of usually qualitative data, have impeded the integration (Evely et al., 2010; Haapasaari et al., 2012; IJC, 1993; Pooley et al., 2013). Incorporating geographers into Laurentian Great Lakes research teams could quantify social and spatial parameters often overlooked in habitat studies.

Conclusion

Laurentian Great Lakes researchers have demonstrated an interest in multidisciplinary approaches through the collaborators and parameters they have included in their studies; however, there is room for incorporation of additional chemical, physical, and spatial metrics in Great Lakes coastal research. Scientific disciplines beyond biology can contribute to answering many ecosystem questions and address issues such as harmful algal blooms and invasive species. There has been an increase in multidisciplinary studies within the Laurentian Great Lakes since 1994, which would appear to be a result of encouragement from the SOLEC process and the GLWQA, and associated funding initiatives. Future cross-disciplinary meetings will encourage understanding anthropogenic interactions beyond their effect on biota and will allow managers and researchers to bring together multiple perspectives and data types to address environmental issues facing coastal ecosystems.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2016.11.008.

Acknowledgements

We thank the Institute for Great Lakes Research for its support, and its faculty members D. Learman, A. Mahon, A. Chappaz, M. Cooper, D. King, A. Monfils, D. Uzarski, and T. Zheng, for their expertise and guidance, and we thank M. Cooper and A. Parker for their honest, informal reviews. We also thank the anonymous reviewers and the editors of the Journal for Great Lakes Research for their constructive comments on this manuscript. This paper is contribution Number 79 of the Central Michigan University Institute for Great Lakes Research.

References

- Albert, D.A., Wilcox, D.A., Ingram, J., Thompson, T.A., 2005. Hydrogeomorphic classification for Great Lakes coastal wetlands. Int. Assoc. Great Lakes Res. 31, 129–146.
- Beletsky, D., Mason, D.M., Schwab, D.J., Rutherford, E.S., Janssen, J., Clapp, D.F., Dettmers, J.M., 2007. Biophysical model of larval yellow perch advection and settlement in Lake Michigan. J. Great Lakes Res. 33, 842–866.
- Bertke, E.E., 2007. Composite analysis for *Escherichia coli* at coastal beaches. J. Great Lakes Res. 33, 335–341.

- Botts, L., Krushelnicki, B., 1987. The Great Lakes. An Environmental Atlas and Resource Book. Great Lakes National Program Office, US Environmental Protection Agency, 230 S. Dearborn St., Chicago, IL 60604 (or Conservation and Protection, Ontario Region, Great Lakes Environment Program, Environment Canada, 25 St. Clair Avenue East, Toronto, Ontario, Canada).
- Brewer, G.D., 1999. The challenges of interdisciplinary. Policy. Sci. 32, 327–337.
- Brix, H., Sorrell, B.K., Lorenzen, B., 2001. Are *Phragmites*-dominated wetlands a net source or net sink of greenhouse gasses? Aquat. Bot. 69, 313–324.
- Chow-Fraser, P., 2006. Development of the Water Quality Index (WQI) to assess effects of basin-wide land-use alteration on coastal marshes of the Laurentian Great Lakes. Coastal Wetlands of the Laurentian Great Lakes: Health, Habitat and Indicators, pp. 137–185.
- Claudet, J., Freschetti, S., 2010. Human-driven impacts on marine habitats: a regional meta-analysis in the Mediterranean Sea. Biol. Conserv. 143, 2195–2206.
- Cloern, J., 2007. Habitat connectivity and ecosystem productivity: implications from a simple model. Am. Nat. 169, E21–E33.
- Cooper, M.J., Rediske, R.R., Uzarski, D.G., Burton, T.M., 2009. Sediment contamination and faunal communities in two subwatersheds of Mona Lake, Michigan. J. Environ. Qual. 38, 1255–1265.
- Cooper, M.J., Gyekis, K.F., Uzarski, D.G., 2012. Edge effects on abiotic conditions, zooplankton, macroinvertebrates and larval fishes in Great Lakes fringing marshes. J. Great Lakes Res. 38, 142–151.
- Cwikiel, W., 1998. Living With Michigan's Wetlands: A Landowner's Guide. Tip of the Mitt Watershed Council, Conway, MI (third printing).
- Dalerum, F., 2014. Identifying the role of conservation biology for solving the environmental crisis. Ambio 4, 839–846.
- Danz, N.P., Niemi, G.J., Regal, R.R., Hollenhorst, T., Johnson, L.B., Hanowski, J.M., Axler, R.P., Ciborowski, J.J.H., Hrabik, T., Brady, V.J., Kelly, J.R., Morrice, J.A., Brazner, J.C., Howe, R.W., Johnston, C.A., Host, G.E., 2007. Integrated measures of anthropogenic stress in the U.S. Great Lakes basin. Environ. Manag. 39, 631–647.
- Environmental Law Institute, 1995. An evaluation of the effectiveness of the International Joint Commission. Environmental Law Institute Research Report, Washington, DC.
- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), 1995. State of the Great Lakes Report Highlights. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC U.S.
- Evely, A.C., Fazey, I., Lambin, X., Lambert, E., Allen, S., Pinard, M., 2010. Defining and evaluating the impact of cross-disciplinary conservation research. Environ. Conserv. 37, 442–450.
- Fosberg, F.R., 1971. Mangroves v. tidal waves. Biol. Conserv. 4, 38-39.
- Foyle, A.M., Norton, K.P., 2007. Geo-feasibility of in situ sediment capping in a Great Lakes urban estuary: a sediment budget assessment. Environ. Geol. 53, 271–282.
- Gal, G., Rudstam, L.G., Mills, E.L., Lantry, J.R., Johannsson, O.E., Greene, C.H., 2006. Mysid and fish zooplanktivory in Lake Ontario: quantification of direct and indirect effects. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 63, 2734–2747.
- Gao, Z., Wang, Q., Zhou, M., 2009. Wave-dependence of friction velocity, roughness length, and drag coefficient over coastal and open water surfaces by using three databases. Adv. Atmos. Sci. 26, 887–894.
- Grady, W., 2007. The Great Lakes. first ed. Greystone Books, Vancouver.
- Grisey, E., Laffray, X., Contoz, O., Cavalli, E., Mudry, J., Aleya, L., 2012. The bioaccumulation performance of reeds and cattails in a constructed treatment wetland for removal of heavy metals in landfill leachate treatment (Etueffont, France). Water Air Soil Pollut. 223, 1723–1741.
- Haapasaari, P., Kulmala, S., Kuikka, S., 2012. Growing into interdisciplinary: how to converge biology, economics, and social science in fisheries research? Ecol. Soc. 17, 6.
- Hicks, C.C., Fitzsimmons, C., Polunin, N.V.C., 2010. Interdisciplinary in the environmental sciences: barriers and frontiers. Environ. Conserv. 37, 464–477.
- Hoffman, J.C., Kelly, J.R., Peterson, G.S., Sierszen, M.E., 2012. Using δ 15 N in fish larvae as an indicator of watershed sources of anthropogenic nitrogen: response at multiple spatial scales. Estuar. Coast. Mar. Sci. 35, 1453–1467.
- International Joint Commission (IJC), 2012. Sixteenth Biennial Report on Great Lakes Water Quality: Assessment of Progress Made Towards Restoring and Maintaining Great Lakes Water Quality Since 1987, pp. 1–231.
- International Joint Commission (IJC), 1993. Seventh Biennial Report Under the Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement of 1978 to the Governments of the United States and Canada and the State and Provincial Governments of the Great Lakes Basin (Washington, D.C. and Ottawa, Ontario).
- International Joint Commission Chemicals of Emerging Concern Work Group, 2011. Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement 2009–2011 Priority Cycle Report on Chemicals of Emerging Concern. International Joint Commission.
- Johnston, C.A., 1991. Sediment and nutrient retention by freshwater wetlands: effects on surface water quality. Crit. Rev. Environ. Control. 21, 491–565.
- Jude, D.J., Pappas, J., 1992. Fish utilization of Great Lakes coastal wetlands. J. Great Lakes Res. 18, 651–672.
- Kamalski, J., 2010. Identifying expertise in water management. Res. Trends 10, 3–5 (September).
- Karlqvist, A., 1999. Going beyond disciplines. Policy. Sci. 32, 379-383.
- Kinzelman, J., McLellan, S.L., Amick, A., Preedit, J., Scopel, C.O., Olapade, O., Gradus, S., Singh, A., Sedmak, G., 2008. Identification of human enteric pathogens in gull feces at Southwestern Lake Michigan bathing beaches. Can. J. Microbiol. 54, 1006–1015.
- Kinzig, A.P., 2001. Bridging disciplinary divides to address environmental and intellectual challenges. Ecosystems 4, 709–715.
- Klein, J.T., 1990. Interdisciplinary: History, Theory, and Practice. Wayne State University Press, Detroit, MI.
- Kreutzwiser, R.D., Gabriel, A.O., 2000. Managing environmental stress: an evaluation of environmental management of the Long Point sandy barrier, Lake Erie, Canada. Environ. Manag. 25, 71–85.

Krieger, K.A., 1992. The ecology of invertebrates in Great Lakes coastal wetlands: current knowledge and research needs. J. Great Lakes Res. 18, 634–650.

- Larson, J.H., Trebitz, A.S., Steinman, A.D., Wiley, M.J., Mazur, M.C., Pebbles, V., Braun, H.A., Seelbach, P.W., 2013. Great Lakes rivermouth ecosystems: scientific synthesis and management implications. J. Great Lakes Res. 39, 513–524.
- Lougheed, V.L., Chow-Fraser, P., 2002. Development and use of a zooplankton index of wetland quality in the Laurentian Great Lakes basin. Ecol. Appl. 12, 474–486.
- Marzano, M., Carss, D.N., Bell, S., 2006. Working to make interdisciplinary work: investing in communication and interpersonal relationships. J. Agric. Econ. 57, 185–197.
- Mitsch, W.J., Reeder, B.C., 1991. Modeling nutrient retention of a freshwater coastal wetland: estimating the roles of primary productivity, sedimentation, resuspension and hydrology. Ecol. Model. 54, 151–187.
- Morillo, F., Bordons, M., Gómez, I., 2003. Interdisciplinary in science: a tentative typology of disciplines and research areas. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci. Technol. 54, 1237–1249.
- Ni, C., Horton, D.J., Rui, J., Henson, M.W., Jiang, Y., Huang, X., Learman, D.R., 2015. High concentrations of bioavailable heavy metals impact freshwater sediment microbial communities. Ann. Microbiol. 66, 1003–1012.
- Niemi, G.J., Kelly, J.R., Danz, N.P., 2007. Environmental indicators for the coastal region of the North American Great Lakes: introduction and prospectus. J. Great Lakes Res. 33, 1–12.
- Parker, A.D., Cooper, M.J., Ruetz III, C.R., Coulter, D.P., Uzarski, D.G., 2012. Chemical and physical factors associated with yellow perch abundance in Great Lakes coastal wetlands: patterns within and among wetland types. Wetl. Ecol. Manag. 20, 137–150.
- Peterson, G.S., Sierszen, M.E., Yurista, P.M., Kelly, J.R., 2007. Stable nitrogen isotopes of plankton and benthos reflect a landscape-level influence on Great Lakes coastal ecosystems. J. Great Lakes Res. 33, 27–41.
- Pettorelli, N., Safi, K., Turner, W., 2014a. Satellite remote sensing, biodiversity research and conservation of the future. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 369, 20130190.
- Pettorelli, N., Laurance, W.F., O'Brien, T.G., Wegmann, M., Nagendra, H., Turner, W., 2014b. Satellite remote sensing for applied ecologists: opportunities and challenges. J. Appl. Ecol. 51, 839–848.
- Pooley, S.P., Mendelsohn, J.A., Milner-Gulland, E.J., 2013. Hunting down the chimera of multiple disciplinarily in conservation science. Conserv. Biol. 28, 22–32.
- Randall, R.G., Minns, C.K., Cairns, V.W., Moore, J.E., 1996. The relationship between an index of fish production and submerged macrophytes and other habitat features at three littoral areas in the Great Lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53, 35–44.
- Robillard, S.R., Marsden, E., 2001. Spawning substrate preferences of yellow perch along a sand-cobble shoreline in southwestern Lake Michigan. N. Am. J. Fish Manag. 21, 208–215.
- Roughgarden, J., Running, S.W., Matson, P.A., 1991. What does remote sensing do for ecology? Ecology 72, 1918–1922.

- Schoen, L.S., Student, J.J., Hoffman, J.C., Sierszen, M.E., Uzarski, D.G., 2016. Reconstructing fish movements between coastal wetland and nearshore habitats of the Great Lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 61, 1800–1813.
- Sheoran, A.S., Sheoran, V., 2006. Heavy metal removal mechanism of acid mine drainage in wetlands: a critical review. Miner. Eng. 19, 105–116.
- Sierszen, M.E., Morrice, J.A., Trebitz, A.S., Hoffman, J.C., 2012. A review of selected ecosystems services provided by coastal wetlands of the Laurentian Great Lakes. Aquat. Ecosyst. Health Manag. 15, 92–106.
- Simenstad, C., Reed, D., Ford, M., 2006. When is restoration not? Incorporating landscapescale processes to restore self-sustaining ecosystems in coastal wetland restoration. Ecol. Eng. 26, 27–39.
- Stephenson, T.D., 1990. Fish reproductive utilization of coastal marshes of Lake Ontario near Toronto. J. Great Lakes Res. 16, 71–81.
- Stoermer, E.F., 1978. Phytoplankton assemblages as indicators of water quality in the Laurentian Great Lakes. Trans. Am. Microsc. Soc. 97, 2–16.
 Travis, S.E., Marburger, J.E., Windels, S., Kubatova, B., 2010. Hybridization dynamics of in-
- Travis, S.E., Marburger, J.E., Windels, S., Kubatova, B., 2010. Hybridization dynamics of invasive cattail (Typhaceae) stands in the western Great Lakes region of North America: a molecular analysis. J. Ecol. 98, 7–16.
- Trebitz, A.S., Brazner, J.C., Pearson, M.S., Peterson, G.S., Tanner, D.K., Taylor, D.L., 2009. Patterns in habitat and fish assemblages within Great Lakes wetlands and implications for sampling design. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 66, 1343.
- Tulbure, M.G., Johnston, C.A., Auger, D.L., 2007. Rapid invasion of a Great Lakes coastal wetland by non-native *Phragmites australis* and *Typha*. J. Great Lakes Res. 33, 269–279.
- Turner, M.G., 2005. Landscape ecology: what is the state of the science? Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 36, 319–344.
- Uzarski, D.G., Burton, T.M., Genet, J.A., 2004. Validation and performance of an invertebrate index of biotic integrity for Lakes Huron and Michigan fringing wetlands during a period of lake level decline. Aquat. Ecosyst. Health Manag. 7, 269–288.
- Uzarski, D.G., Burton, T.M., Cooper, M.J., Ingram, J., Timmermans, S., 2005. Fish habitat use within and across wetland classes in coastal wetlands of the five Great Lakes: development of a fish based index of biotic integrity. J. Great Lakes Res. 31, 171–187.
- Uzarski, D.G., Burton, T.M., Kolar, R.E., Cooper, M.J., 2009. The ecological impacts of fragmentation and vegetation removal in Lake Huron's coastal wetlands. Aquat. Ecosyst. Health Manag. 12, 45–62.
- Whillans, T.H., 1992. Wetlands of the Great Lakes: Protection, Restoration, Policies and Status of the Science. Proc. Intern. Wetl. Symp. 1990 pp. 156–165.
- Whitman, R.L., Przybyla-Kelly, K., Shively, D.A., Nevers, M.B., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2008. Sunlight, season, snowmelt, storm, and source affect *E. coli* populations in an artificially ponded stream. Sci. Total Environ. 390, 448–455.